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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL {IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Clark Homestead is located on a country road one mile southwest of the town hall
of Lebanon, a rural town in southeastern Connecticut, It is an early 18th century, five-bay,
central chimney, added lean-to house that retains to a remarkable degree its original
appearance and integrity. It stands alone, surrounded by open fields with only one neighbor,
to the south, visible., The Homestead was the farmhouse for a 100-acre dairy farm until
1973 when 95 acres were sold off, leaving a house lot of five acres. Part of the 95 acres is
now inland wetlands, and it is anticipated that four or five houses will be constructed on the
remaining acreage. The home lot includes a large barn that was built in 1944 after an earlier
barn burned. The foundations of the earlier barn remain,

The unpainted, weathered, two and one-half story house faces east. The windows on
either side of the entrance are grouped in pairs. The entrance has a double door under a
seven-light transom. A simple, raised molding separates the doors and transom from a
flat architrave. There is no hood or portico and there are no steps other than a single slab
of stone, The roof of the house has an 18-inch overhang at the front eaves. Underneath
the eaves a few courses of original, riven clapboards are in place, while the balance of the
clapboards are 19th century replacements,

The south facade has three windows one above the other in the end of the original house,
plus two windows and a door in the lean-to., A slight change of pitch in the roof is visible
at the point where the lean-to was added. The northeast corner of the house has shifted
slightly, a condition overemphasized in the 1966 State inventory form where it is reported
that the "walls are buckling and the building has settled considerably.” Such severe
assessment appears inconsistent with impression gained visually and by interview with the
owner that the house is structurally sound. Near the southeast corner of the house is a
well, thought to date from the earliest days of the house and used until 15 years ago. This
facade also has an external chimney that was constructed in 1950 for the furnace when central
heating was introduced into the house for the first time. This chimney is scheduled to come
down,

The north facade, now covered with asbestos siding scheduled to be removed, repeats
the three vertical windows and two lean-to windows of the south side, and includes a rear ell
as well, This rear addition, originally part of a separate structure, was moved to its
present location in the mid-19th century. Now considerably altered, it does not affect, and
is not considered part of, the original homestead, although it does serve the useful purpose
of providing additional living space.

Quite aside from the rear ell, the homestead proper has developed and changed from
time to time over the years. As originally constructed, c. 1708, the house consisted of
center chimney with small front hallway, and a room on each floor on either side of the
chimney -.a four-room house. - The front facade had three bays, not five, and a single front
door, not a double door. When the lean-to was added, c. 1750, the single windows on either
side of the front door were replaced with pairs. The next, and last, major changes, c, 1800,
were primarily intended to improve appearances. At this time the double front door was
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The 1800 improvements included the two-leaf front door and stairway inside. The
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position of the original narrow door can still be determined from the framing., The stairway
has flat landings, no winders, with square spindles set at an angle to form diamond- shaped
supports from the closed string to the hand rail, The wall of the stairway is the chimney,
and it is covered with plaster,

The south bedroom has an arched brick fireplace. The entire fireplace wall is covered
with raised panelling. The summer, girt, posts, and plates are cased in. The fireplace
wall of the north bedroom has the most elegant panelling of the house. Fluted pilasters rise
above the molding that forms the fireplace surround. At the bases of the pilasters the country
craftsmen tapered the horizontal moldings to a width less than that of the pilasters in
contrast to the usual treatment of forming the base wider than the . vertical section it supports.
The blue paint that remains in part on this fireplace wall appears to be original, as does the
dark red paint of the baseboard. The twelve-over-twelve sash in the room appear to have
some original lights. All the second floor windows are twelve-over-twelve, and are thought
to be original. The first floor sash date from the 20th century.

The rear wall of the bedrooms is the original rear wall of the house, now the front
wall of the lean-to attic. At the top of this wall, on the lean-to side, are original riven oak
clapboards with tapered ends, simply left undisturbed in 1750 when the lean-to was built on.
Also visible at the top of this wall are the ends of the original roof rafters as they extend
over the plate, next to the rafters added to support the lean-to roof.

The roof of the attic proper is supported in part by a single massive purlin for each
pitch. The fitting of the 1935 brick chimney through the roof shows that originally the stone
chimney was larger and that the original, larger opening for it started at the ridge line, not
behind the ridge line. Consequently, the observation in both the State inventory form and
the WPA Census of Old Buildings that the stack breaks through the roof slightly behind the
ridge line is accurate for the present condition but inaccurate for the original configuration.

The Clark Homestead was purchased early in 1978 by a family who reside there and who
are embarked on a careful restoration,
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Seldom is an 18th century house found in a solitary location where it seems that the
clock stopped more than two and one-half centuries ago. The Clark Homestead, in reality
only a mile southwest of the Lebanon Town Hall, seems far more remote in both time and
place. Its weathered clapboards, stark silhouette, and farm surroundings give a convincing
impression of how the house appeared when it was built, c. 1708, Set among several tall
trees in otherwise cleared land, but without shrubbery or other adornment, it dramatically
suggests the rigorous life of the early settlers.

The Clark Homestead is generally regarded as the oldest house in the town of Lebanon.
While it is indeed distinguished for its age, it is equally distinguished for its alterations
and improvements in 1750 and 1800, and the ensuing stability during the last two centuries.
The Revolutionary War career of James Clark, who owned the land, adds an historic associa-
tion to this important early American house.

Southeastern Connecticut, especially its rural sections, has seen little economic and
industrial development during the 20th century. The tendency of time to pass the region by
has been much to the benefit of the Clark Homestead, whose physical situation amid hills
and fields of farmland strikes the observer with apparent Colonial authenticity. So little
has been done to change the land since the 18th century, and so little has been done to change
the house since the 19th century, that the house and its site comprise an outstanding example
of early American living.

Rarely is it possible to see such clear evidence of the lean-to addition and its
associated change of the front facade from three to five bays. Here the exposed wall in the
lean-to attic makes the framing changes easy to grasp. In the south front room, first floor,
the existence of a peg for a stud over the center of one of the windows leaves no doubt that
originally a single window was placed between the present pair. The clarity of the relation-
ship between the fireplace in this room and the lean-to fireplace is an exceptional circum-
stance. Similarly, the presence of the original three rooms in the lean-to with their
original summers, plaster, wall sheathing, and even ceiling sheathing is a valuable illustra-
tion of early conditions.

The development of the house for greater roominess and elegance is easily followed
in the addition of the lean-to and the installation of the panelling, moldings, and pilasters.
The farm must have been a productive one to support these changes in the direction of
comfort and fashion. Many houses received corresponding embellishment on the exterior
as well, but here the embellishments were confined to the interior.
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The land records indicate that Captain Daniel Clark of Windsor, Connecticut, bought
42 acres of land in 1700 from the original proprietors of Lebanon, He shared title with his
son, James Clark., His grandson, Moses Clark (d. 1749) was given the land and built the
house within a year or two of 1708.

James Clark (1730-1826) was a captain of the militia, On the command of Governor
Jonathan Trumbull, he led troops to Boston and fought with distinction at Bunker Hill. He
also took part in the battles of White Plains and Harlem Heights, In 1826, at age 95, he
attended the dedication of the Bunker Hill Memorial. On this occasion he was remembered
and recognized by the Marquis de Lafayette, then on his famous American tour,

The Clark Homestead exemplifies an important chapter in the history of American
architecture. It is particularly interesting as a lucid demonstration of changes that
typically took place in such a house as it developed. The house provides an exposition
of great merit in early American architectural development,
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The value of the Clark Homestead in architectural history
derives in large part from the exposition it gives of changes that typ-
ically occurred in early 18th century houses. Here we f£ind straight
forward, physical evidence of the change from three to five bays,
of the change from single leaf to two leaf front door, of the addition
of the lean-to with consequent changes in the fireplace and in the roof
framing, and of the addition of Georgian trim. The Clark Homestead in
presenting this clear record of how a house grew and developed provides
an important aid in the study of early American domestic architecture.
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